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The Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Comparative Public Law and
International Law 1924 to 1945

Radiger Hachtmann

Institute staff with members of the German Air Force at the KWI!

The “Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law” (hereinafter: International
Law Institute) is a product of the crises of the early Weimar Republic. It was founded on
19 December 1924 as a ‘registered association’ (eingetragener Verein), which was merely
associated with the Kaiser-Wilhelm-Society (Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft, KWG) for the first
ten years.? The Institute was founded on the initiative of Friedrich Glum, who was appointed

! Photo: undated, AMPG, VI. Abt., Rep. 1, Nr. KWI ausléffRechtuVélkerrecht 111/47.

2 On the founding history of the Institute: See Ingo Hueck, Die deutsche Volkerrechtswissenschaft im
Nationalsozialismus. Das Berliner Kaiser-Wilhelm-Institut fiir auslandisches éffentliches Recht und V6lkerrecht,
das Hamburger Institut fir Auswartige Politik und das Kieler Institut fiir Internationales Recht, in: Doris Kaufmann
(ed.), Geschichte der Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft im Nationalsozialismus, Bd. 2, Géttingen: Wallstein 2000,
490-527 (499 ff.); Rolf-Ulrich Kunze, Ernst Rabel und das Kaiser-Wilhelm-Institut fiir auslandisches und
internationales  Privatrecht 1926-1945, Gottingen:  Wallstein 2004, 47 ff.; Rudiger Hachtmann,
Wissenschaftsmanagement im ,,Dritten Reich®“. Geschichte der Generalverwaltung der Kaiser-Wilhelm-
Gesellschaft, Bd. 1, Goéttingen: Wallstein 2007, 110 ff.
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Secretary General of the KWG on 11 May 1920. The task of the International Law Institute was
to contribute to foreign policy ‘crisis management’ as a kind of “brain trust”. Although the
devastating inflation had been stopped in late 1924 and the currency stabilised, the German
Reich continued to move in highly uncertain waters in terms of foreign policy. It had not yet
been admitted to the League of Nations and remained relatively isolated internationally. The
occupation of large parts of the Rhineland by French troops had fuelled nationalist resentment
in the German Reich. After the Ruhrkampfended on 26 September 1923, international
constellations gradually began to relax. The Geneva Protocol on the “peaceful settlement of
international disputes” was signed on 2 October 1924; the evacuation of the occupied Rhineland
began in midsummer 1925; the Locarno Accords in mid-October 1925 paved the way for the
German Reich to join the League of Nations; the admission was formally completed on 10
September 1926.

Against this background, the central task of the International Law Institute was to provide
“scientific preparatory work and support for the struggle to be waged by the government against
the Versailles Treaty, Dawes Plan, and Young Plan for equal rights under international law of
Germany and the German minorities”®. The “government-related advisory office for
international law” (Ingo Hueck) was led by Viktor Bruns. Bruns, who reached the age of 40 a
few days after the founding of ‘his’ institute and had been an associate professor at the
University of Berlin since 1912, then an ordinary professor of constitutional and international
law since 1920, was director of the institute until his death on 28 September 1943.

Bruns and his colleagues underlined the fact that the International Law Institute was to pave the
legal way for ‘German interests’ vis-a-vis the neighbouring European states by founding a
branch office in French-occupied Trier. Since 24 July 1925, the staff there, under the direction
of prelate Ludwig Kaas, devoted themselves to the “interpretation of the Treaty of Versailles”,
the “law in the occupied territories [of the Rhineland], the Saar region, Alsace-Lorraine”, and
South Tyrol, as well as “foreign state church law”.* Kaas had taken over the chairmanship of
the Centre Party (Deutsche Zentrumspartei) in autumn of 1928 and was responsible for the
political turn to the right of this Catholic people’s party from the end of the 1920s onwards. On
30 June 1933, the branch office was terminated after Kaas had emigrated to Rome two months
earlier.

The legal construction of the Institute and its ‘affiliation” with the renowned KWG entailed
considerable political advantages: although Bruns’ Institute was de facto an institution for the
delivery of legal opinions and advisory, primarily to the Foreign Office, and Bruns was also the

% Friedrich Glum, Denkschrift Gber die Notlage der Forschungsinstitute der Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft zur
Forderung der Wissenschaften, 2 Sepember 1932, BArch,, R 2/12019, BI. 14, 4.

4 Quotations by Viktor Bruns from: Nelly Keil, Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft in Gefahr, in: Germania — Zeitung
fur das Deutsche Volk, 25 December 1932.
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most important representative of the German Reich before the International Court of Justice in
The Hague, it was and remained a formally independent institution. Its expert opinions could
claim a ‘neutral’ character and did not run the risk of falling victim to party-political disputes;
the director and his staff were not dependent on short-lived government coalitions.
Additionally, the expert opinions of a nominally independent institute could be used more
effectively in an international context.

The Institute in the Third Reich. Scientific Support for the New German Imperialism

The year 1933 marked a turning point
.} for the International Law Institute in
several respects. Democrats such as
Carlo Schmid had already left the
Institute before, others followed after
1933. Erich Kaufmann, who had been
working as a scientific advisor to the
Institute since 1927, had to give up this
position in 1934, as he was considered
a Jew according to the Nuremberg
Laws; he fled to the Netherlands and
survived the war there, partly in

Parade in front of the Altes Museum: “Victorious entry of the
Spanish Condor Legion”. View from the upper floors of the
Berlin Palace, but not from the institute rooms: 06.06.1939 illegality. ~Marguerite Wolff also

(AMPG, VI. Abt., Rep. 1, Nr. KWlausl6ffRechtuVolkerrecht 11/6; survived the Nazi era. She had been
Photographer unknown, but presumably a member of the .
institute) hired by Bruns as a research assistant

when the Institute was founded and was
dismissed in April 1933 because of her Jewish origin. Similarly, her husband Martin Wolff,
who was also Jewish, had been appointed Scientific Member of the twin-institute for private
law at the end of 1925. In the mid-1930s, the couple emigrated to England. Gerhard Leibholz,
a staff member from the early days of the International Law Institute, who was discriminated
against as a Jew and was able to flee to England just a few weeks before the November pogrom
in 1938, was also among those persecuted on racist grounds.

Hitler’s appointment as chancellor and Germany’s withdrawal from the League of Nations
resulted in a kind of political-legal paradigm shift: until 1933, the International Law Institute
had mainly tried to soften and undo the legal consequences of the war by means such as legal
opinions. From 1933 onwards, the institute and its leading exponents also embarked on the
aggressive-imperial course that the Nazi regime soon took; they did so without having to be
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forced — and, thus, grew into a central role for the Nazi regime: as a legal advisory body, the

institute continued to “set the tone in the Foreign Office”.®

Where the central actors stood politically was shown by their commitment to rearmament and
imperial goals: Viktor Bruns, for example, was heavily involved with the “German Society for
Military Policy and Military Science” (Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Wehrpolitik  und
Wehrwissenschaften, DGWW), founded on 28 June 1933, which was particularly zealous in
this field. Likewise, Ernst Schmitz was head of the international law department from 12 May
1931 and, as Bruns’ close confidant from 11 January 1936 until his death in early 1942, he was
deputy director of the International Law Institute. Bruns and Schmitz, a specialist in the law of
war, gave lectures on military policy on behalf of the society, thus giving the “Military Science”
Society a veneer of integrity and distance to party interests. Both were regarded as central pillars
of the DGWW.® And so was the, as Friedrich Glum put it, “fascinating teacher of constitutional
law” Carl Schmitt, whom Bruns tied to the Institute as a “scientific advisor” at the beginning
of December 1933. Schmitt, who had paved the way intellectually for the presidential
dictatorship established in 1930 and was the representative of the Papen government in the
“Preullenschlag” trial before the State Court in 1932, gave the central lecture at the second
general meeting of the DGWW in 1934.7

The International Law Institute was not only closely intertwined with associations that
‘preached’, at times in the literal sense, rearmament and bellicism. In terms of personnel, the
institute also acquired a decisively military character, especially its supervisory body: in the
beginning of 1937, after the phase of accelerated rearmament had been officially announced a
few months earlier, high-ranking military officers were elected to the joint board of trustees of
the two law institutes, namely Reich Minister of War and Field Marshal Werner von Blomberg
(with the right to be substituted), the long-standing chairman of the DGWW General Friedrich
von Cochenhausen, the retired Admiral Walter Gladisch (reactivated at the beginning of 1939),
and Air Force General (and later General Field Marshall) Erhard Milch.®

5> Hueck (fn. 2), 503.

6 See Peter Kolmsee, Die Rolle und Funktion der Deutschen Gesellschaft fiir Wehrpolitik und Wehrwissenschaften
bei der Vorbereitung des Zweiten Weltkrieges durch das faschistische Deutschland, unpublished dissertation.,
University of Leipzig 1966, ,,Biographischer Anhang der wichtigsten Mitglieder der DGWW?”, 3, 14. The list of
members reads like a who’s who of the right-wing conservative and early fascist allies of the Nazi movement; On
the relations between the DGWW and the general administration of the KWG, which were close for a long time:
see Hachtmann (fn. 2), vol. 1, 480-485.

7 See the corresponding invitation to Glum and the General Administration, MPG Archives, Dept. |, Rep.1A, No.
900/1, sheet 18.

8 Glum’s file note of 14 Jan. 1937 on a meeting of 9 Jan. with Bruns, MPG Archives, Dept. I, Rep. 1A, No. 2351/4,
sheet 180.
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Pluralism due to Pragmatism? Conservative and Voélkisch Viewpoints at the KWI

It is remarkable that, despite the paradigm shift alluded to,
the inner pluralism of the Institute remained intact after
1933 — albeit within the political framework set by the Nazi
regime, i.e., clearly shifted to the right: Some continued to
pursue the concept of a — fundamentally equal —
“community of international law”, others the idea of a
“community of nations” (Volkergemeinschaft) based on a
racial hierarchy. The latter included Herbert Kier, for
example, who joined the NSDAP as early as 1931 (and the
SS in 1934) and had been an expert on “ethnic group law”
(Volksgruppenrecht) at the Institute of International Law
since 1936. There were two reasons for the continuation of
a range of different ideas about the form and function of
international law:

On the one hand, the traditionally educated bourgeois legal
elite, which had a strong ‘Wilhelminian’ ethos, was not to

Employees of the Institute on the roof of

the Berlin Palace (undated): from left .. e .
to right: Joachim-Dieter Bloch, Ursula D€ affronted. Numerous lawyers working in the judiciary

Grunow, Hermann Mosler, Alexander and the administration as well as exponents of

m'r MakaroKK/v(lngo%RXghtﬁ\b/%lklz?fécrlﬁ jurisprudence were — as the high NSDAP membership

111/51) figures among them show — politically and ideologically

very close to the Nazi movement. However, a considerable
number of them remained too attached to traditional legal thought patterns for the obscure
“racial law legal doctrine” (rassengesetzliche Rechtslehre) of racist zealots like Kier to be
imposed on them within a short time. However, one did not want to ‘alienate’ the legal scholars
who had been socialised in the Wilhelminian era, and not only because their
political- ideological views overlapped strongly with the Hitler movement and the Nazi regime
(which itself was by no means ideologically homogeneous). The exponents of the dictatorship
also needed the scientific elites in particular to find ‘functional’ solutions both for (in our case:
law-based) domestic political consolidation and for the implementation of the imperial
expansion that had been envisaged from the very beginning.

It was furthermore a peculiar ‘pragmatism’ of the protagonists of the Nazi regime that was
behind the considerable range of different ideas about the form and function of international
law after 1933. This way, political actors were able to choose the most functional of the expert
‘solutions’ presented to them for foreign policy ‘problems’ entangled with international law.
This is the second reason for the — relative — pluralism within the legal sciences (among other
fields) and explains why leading actors of the regime did not interfere in the controversies of
the respective scientific field with political or administrative means.
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The self-mobilisation for the legal grounding and implementation of the imperial goals of the
Nazi dictatorship, which is clearly observable among the International Law Institute’s
prominent personalities, by no means ruled out friction and rivalries with similarly positioned
institutions: since 9 April 1935, the International Law Institute formally operated under the
name “Kaiser Wilhelm Institute”, as did its “sister institute” for foreign private law. In this way,
the KWG preempted a take-over attempt by the Academy for German Law (Akademie fiir
Deutsches Recht), which had been founded on 26 June 1933. On 30 May 1938, the former joint
sponsoring association was dissolved and both legal institutes were fully integrated into the
KWG.

The changed status of the Institute is not an indication of political or ideological opposition or
even resistant attitudes of its actors, but one of countless examples of competition for power
and influence typical of the political system. The outstanding importance of the KWG and its
institutes for the Nazi regime can also be deducted from the fact that the autonomy of the
scientific society remained untouched until 1945. This also applied to the International Law
Institute. Incidentally, the commitment to both the International Law Institute and the Academy
for German Law could be reconciled without any problems. Bruns, in particular, also left his
mark on the Academy for German Law as chairman of the Committee for International Law;
he was further a member of the Committee for Nationality Law.

Thus, corresponding political positions are not surprising: Viktor Bruns, for example, in his
lecture at the 27th Ordinary General Meeting of the KWG in May 1938, polemicized in no
uncertain terms against the Treaty of Versailles and other “unscrupulous violations of law” by
the allied powers. At the end of his lecture under the title “The Blame for ‘Peace’ and German
Right to the Sudetenland” (“Die Schuld am ‘Frieden’ und das deutsche Recht am
Sudetenland”), he justified the occupation of the region belonging to the RCS, which was
carried out four months later, by contrasting “the bleak picture of a past not long behind us”
with the ostensibly bright picture of the present and future:

“The picture of the present is different, the German people have a Fuhrer; the Germans
in Bohemia are united and organised, they represent a popular movement of real
strength. Thus, this precondition [a lack of political unity] for the integration of the

Sudeten Germans into the Czech state has also fallen away.”®

Bruns was by no means speaking only for himself. This is illustrated by taking a look at the
1939 KWG yearbook, where the accountability report of the general administration states that
Bruns’ lecture was of “almost historical significance [...], since here the German legal claim to

® Ernst Telschow (ed.), Jahrbuch 1939 der Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft zur Forderung der Wissenschaften,
Leipzig: Drugulin 1939, 57-85 (citation: 85).
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a new settlement in the Bohemian-Moravian area was already irrefutably raised and the basis
in international law for the Fiihrer’s later measures [!] was clarified”.°

Since the pre-war years, the cooperation of the International Law Institute, which in the 1930s
consistently employed between fifty and sixty staff members, with the Nazi Foreign Office and
(this has not yet been researched!) presumably also with other institutions and organisations
of the dictatorship active in foreign policy, became ever closer. Nevertheless, it retained its
independence, not only organisationally but also scientifically. It was an exculpatory protective
claim when Bruns’ successor Bilfinger asserted before the Heidelberg criminal court on 17 July
1947 that his institute had “more or less been a branch of the Foreign Office during the
war”.2 Such formulas were intended to conceal one’s own willing self-mobilisation for the
dictatorship as well as the fact that the Nazi system of rule was by no means monolithic.

The undoubtedly existing ties to the Foreign Office had socio-structural consequences: many
of the institute’s staff transferred to the diplomatic service or belonged simultaneously to the
Foreign Office or to army offices which also had to address issues of international law. As a
result, the structure of the International Law Institute tended to resemble that of the diplomatic
service: members of the old German nobility were more strongly represented among the staff
and academic members than in other KWISs. In addition, “a certain social conceit” (Ingo Hueck)
dominated.®?

Denunciation and Resistance. The Institute at the End of the War

One prominent nobleman was Berthold Schenk von Stauffenberg, who had belonged to Stefan
George’s circle and was one of his testamentary executors. Von Stauffenberg had written the
first comprehensive treatise on international procedural law, worked briefly at the
International Law Institute in 1929/30 and, having just turned 30, was appointed a Scientific
Member there on 25 June 1935. On 1 April 1937, von Stauffenberg was promoted to head of
the newly established department for “Law of War and Military Law”. As an expert on the law
of naval warfare, von Stauffenberg was appointed to the High Command of the Navy at the end
of 1939 and rarely visited at the Berlin International Law Institute thereafter. Out of a starkly
conservative stance, he remained “committed [to the Third Reich] well into the war years”
before joining the Conservative Resistance from 1941/42 — after the invasion of the Soviet
Union and the obvious break with all rules of international law. After his brother Claus’

10 Telschow (fn. 9), 52.

11 Within the research programme of the MPG Presidential Commission on the History of the Kaiser Wilhelm
Society under National Socialism, the Institute was unfortunately not the subject of an independent research
project. However, Hueck’s paper (fn. 2) offers important cornerstones for a future project.

12 Quoted from: Richard Beyler, “Reine Wissenschaft” und personelle Sduberungen. Die Kaiser-Wilhelm-/ Max-
Planck-Gesellschaft 1933 und 1945, Berlin: Max Planck Society for the Advancement of Science 2004, 30 f.

13 Hueck (fn. 2), 510.
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assassination attempt on Hitler, he was arrested and executed on 10 August 1944. Helmuth Graf
James von Moltke also belonged to the resistance movement of 20 July 1944; he too had been
employed since the beginning of the war in the Advisory Office for International Law at the
“Office of the Exterior/ Defence” of the High Command of the Wehrmacht and was executed
on 2 February 1945.

Von Stauffenberg’s and von Moltke’s activities for the International Law Institute did not make
it “an institution of the resistance movement of 20 July 1944 (Hueck).!* The fact that the
atmosphere at the KWI was characterised by denunciation and mistrust, at least in the last years
of the war, is illustrated by the ‘Wengler Affair’: Wilhelm Wengler, who was considered one
of the most renowned university lecturers on international law and comparative law in the post-
war Federal Republic of Germany, had first been a lecturer at the KWI for Comparative and
International Private Law from 1933 to 1938 and then moved to the International Law Institute.
Wengler, who in autumn 1942 — without giving up his work for the institute such as the
aforementioned — was seconded to the High Command of the Wehrmachtand the
Navy (Kriegsmarine) as a consultant for international law, remained in contact with his
colleagues von Moltke and von Stauffenberg. In October 1943, Herbert Kier, a research
assistant at the Institute of International Law and at the same time “confidant of the security
service at the institute”, denounced Wengler for “defeatist statements”. On 14 January 1944,
Wengler was arrested by the Gestapo. Unlike von Moltke and von Stauffenberg, he was ‘lucky
in misfortune’: in mid-November 1944, Wengler was drafted into the Wehrmacht and survived
the war.®®

Even before that, from the summer of 1944, the Institute had begun to relocate its activities to
outposts within Berlin due to increasingly intense air raids. Parts of the library were moved to
the outskirts of Berlin. On 3 February 1945, the premises of the International Law Institute in
the City Palace were demolished and most of the library and files were destroyed; the rest was
placed in the private home of Viktor Bruns.

Bruns was succeeded as KWI director on 1 November 1943 by Carl Bilfinger, professor of
public law and international law in Halle from 1924 to 1935, and in Heidelberg from 1935 to
1943. Bilfinger was a controversial figure during the post-war period due to his political
involvement in the Third Reich. The result was fierce turbulence in the politics of the past.
Bilfinger had to resign from his post at the beginning of July 1946 and was first to be
“whitewashed” by a denazification procedure. Karl von Lewinski took over as provisional
director of the International Law Institute, which was now affiliated with the German Research

14 Hueck (fn. 2), 522.
15 For details on this affair: Hachtmann (fn. 2), vol. 2, 1147-1156.
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University (Deutsche Forschungshochschule) in Berlin.*® From 18 March 1949 until the
beginning of 1954, Bilfinger again led the Institute, now as the Max Planck Institute for
Comparative Public Law and International Law, which took up residence in Heidelberg,
Bilfinger’s hometown. Democratic lawyers and politicians such as Adolf Grimme considered
Bilfinger’s reappointment as director of the International Law Institute a “serious political and
substantial mistake” due to his Nazi-charges.!’ Gerhard Leibholz, who had himself been
persecuted by the Nazis, and many others criticised the decision even more harshly.
Nevertheless, it was imposed by the Max Planck Society Senate. It was not until Hermann
Mosler’s appointment on 29 January 1954 that the institute broke with its Nazi past.

Translation from the German original: Sarah Gebel

16 \Von Lewinski (1873-1951) represented the German Reich at the reparations negotiations in Washington D.C.
from 1922 to 1931. He then worked as a lawyer in Berlin until 1945.

17 Adolf Grimme to Otto Hahn, 14 July 1950, quoted from: Beyler (fn. 12), 33; On further criticism of Bilfinger’s
renewed appointment: see Felix Lange, Carl Bilfingers Entnazifizierung und die Entscheidung fur Heidelberg. Die
Griindungsgeschichte des volkerrechtlichen Max-Planck-Instituts nach dem Zweiten Weltkrieg, HJIL 74 (2014),
697-731, 721 ff.
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